IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2007-KA-01573-COA

VIRTY LEE THAMES

APPELLANT

VERSUS

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

Appeal from the Circuit Court of Newton County, Mississippi Criminal Action No. 07-CR-018-NW-G

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

THOMAS Q. BRAME, JR.
THE BRAME LAW FIRM
POST OFFICE BOX 301
2781 HIGHWAY 15
BAY SPRINGS, MS 39422-0301
TELEPHONE: 601-764-4355
FACSIMILE: 601-764-4356
MISSISSIPPI STATE BAR NO

Attorney of Record for the Appellant

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2007-KA-01573-COA

VIRTY LEE THAMES

APPELLANT

VERSUS

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Whether the conflict of interest of Thames' trial counsel in his dual representation of both Defendants was prejudicial in Thames' case.
- 2. Whether the Jury Verdict in this case was the result of bias and passion on the part of the Jury, and is contrary to the credible evidence adduced at trail and the law of this State.
- 3. Whether trail counsel's performance represents ineffective assistance of counsel.
- 4. Whether the cumulative errors in the investigation of this case, and at trail, resulted in a basically unfair trail of the Defendant in this case.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

PROCEDURAL HISTORY AND DISPOSITION IN THE COURT BELOW

The record history of State of Mississippi versus Virty Lee Thames, Newton County Circuit Court Docket No. 07-CR-018-NWG, though abbreviated is very direct. According to the State, at the request of co-defendant, Otha J. Wheaton, ("Wheaton"), on or about February 15, 2006, Virty Lee Thames, ("Thames"), sold \$100.00 worth of crack cocaine to Donna Keel, ("Keel"), at her home located at 921 West Church Street in Newton. Keel was working as a confidential informant for the State at this time.

After his arrest, Thames was indicted by the Newton County Grand Jury on January 30, 2007 for the crime of sale of cocaine, (CP-3), in violation of **Miss. Code 1972, Ann.**, **Sec. 41-29-139(a)(1) (Amend.).** Retaining counsel and free on bond, Thames then filed his Motion for Discovery, (CP-5), consisting of only two paragraphs, on or about March 5, 2007. The record is devoid of any other pre-trial motions. Trial commenced on August 8, 2007.

At trial, the State called five witnesses, including Keel. Thames took the stand as the only witness for the defense. After the Jury announced that it was deadlocked, the trial court gave an oral instruction that represented the Model Instruction 1:20 of the Mississippi Criminal Jury Instructions, (T-113), and the Jury then shortly returned its verdict of "Guilty as charged.". (CP-15, T-115).

At the sentencing hearing on August 10, 2007, and after preparation of a Pre-Sentence Investigation, (CP-22), despite Thames' trial counsel's plea for mercy, the trial court sentenced Thames to a term of fifteen (15) years to serve. (CP-16) At the same hearing Thames' non-specific Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict or for a New Trial, (CP-18), was overruled by the trial court. (CP-21)

From these adverse decisions, Thames timely perfected his appeal to this Court. (CP-30, 31 and 36) Thames further, on or about September 20, 2007, filed his Motion for Bail Pending Appeal, (CP-35), which was granted by the trial court on October 4, 2007, (CP-37 and 39). Thames has remained free on this bond, with no adverse actions.

FACTUAL STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Virty Lee Thames was a long time substance abuser (CP-28), and, at all times relevant to this matter, worked as a mechanic at the garage owned by Otha J. Wheaton. (CP-27) The record also reflects that Thames and Wheaton had known Donna Keel for a period of time as she was a regular customer of the garage. Wheaton was well known to the Mississippi Bureau of Narcotics. (RE - 54 and 55).

It is little wonder then that on February 15, 2005, with Keel as an informant, the Bureau has focused on the Wheaton Garage "business". Perhaps the fact that Keel and Thames had smoked together a number of times prompted the sending of Thames to Keel's home on that day. Both smoked a cigarette, and Thames left. Then in late July, 2006, Thames was arrested, and his prosecution in this case began.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This is a case of multiple small errors and several professional lapses. The cumulative effect of these errors and lapses resulted in an inherently unfair prosecution and trial of the Appellant, Virty Lee Thames.

Thames was an admitted substance abuser. Other than this flaw, he had led an unremarkable and productive life for 44 years. In his first major collision with the criminal justice system, he was represented by private counsel, who allowed the direction of his defense to be turned over to, and/or greatly influenced by, others with interests directly adverse to Thames rights, namely, Co-indictee, Otha Wheaton, who paid the bulk of the trial counsel's fees.

This Brief will discuss conflict of interest in representation by counsel, a suspect verdict and the reasons for same, what is ineffective assistance of counsel and the ultimate result of all of this, a travesty of justice resulting in Thames' conviction.

Virty Lee Thames requests this Court's reversal of his conviction for the sale of cocaine in Newton County, Mississippi. It is the only proper remedy for this terribly unfair trial.

ARGUMENT AND CITATION OF AUTHORITIES

Ĭ

Whether the conflict of interest of Thames' trial counsel in his dual representation of both Defendants was prejudicial in Thames' case.

This is very much a considered judgment on the part of this Court. To be sure, Thames and his family knew of the dual representation. (RE-50) It is also true that the Thames family could only pay a portion of trial counsel's quoted fee (RE-50); Co-Defendant Wheaton paid the bulk of this fee. And, in all objective view, trial counsel at times did make valid points and argument in his representation of Thames. However, the name of Otha J. Wheaton was never mentioned during this trial, other than as a garage owner.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard for examination of a conflict of interest question in this State has been long established. Rule 1.7, Rules of Professional Conduct states that:

- (a) A lawyer shall not represent a client if this representation of that client will be directly adverse to another client, ..., and,
- (b) A lawyer shall not represent a client if the representation of that client may be materially limited by the lawyer's responsibilities to another client or to a third person,

LEGAL PRINCIPLES

The general rule for interpretation of this above rule was well stated in *Gwin v*.

Fountain, et al, 126 So. 18 (Miss. 1930), when our Court said:

"All dealings between attorney and client must be characterized by utmost fairness and good faith on the part of the attorney." At Page 22

The above was more specifically stated in *Shah v. Mississippi Bar*, 919 So.2d 59 (Miss. 2006), when our Court outlined the following ethical duties on the part of attorneys:

- (1) The duty of loyalty, including preserving the client's property, maintaining confidentiality, and avoiding conflicts:
- (2) The duty of diligence;
- (3) The duty of competence; and,
- (4) The duty of candor.

Shah, supra, at Page 65; Rules of Prof. Conduct, Rules 1.1, 1.3, 1.4, 1.5, 1.7, 8.4.

This is not a question of refund of fees or misappropriation of funds. It is simply a question of whether this dual representation, of Thames and co-Defendant Wheaton, prejudiced Thames' fullest defense. Was Thames misled? *Liebling v. The Mississippi Bar*, 929 So.2d 911 (Miss. 2006). Was he denied a full, uncompromised defense, or rather was there "hedging" in order to avoid incriminating the fee payor, Wheaton? Were witnesses who were available and beneficial to Thames defense not called at trial because they were detrimental to the man who paid the fees, Wheaton? He requests this Court's determination.

П

Whether the Jury Verdict in this case was the result of bias and passion on the part of the Jury and is contrary to the credible evidence adduced at trial and the law of this State.

There is no question here that drug offenses are horrific and a cancer on society.

Further, there is no question that Thames, at the time of this alleged sale was a substance abuser and possessed the contraband. (T-92, 93, 94). There is no question that he knew Keel and they often smoked together. (T-53, 93). With these facts in mind, the question now is, was this a sale or just another smoking session?

Having reviewed certain undisputed facts the Jury considered, let's turn now to areas of question to consider. Initially, was there in fact an intention on Thames' part to participate in a sale? From his testimony, Thames certainly exhibited no real idea this was a sale. (T-93, 94) Even Keel admitted she had made the buy from Wheaton, Thames, as in the past, just wanted a hit of the crack. (T-57) Secondly, there is the question of the jury instructions in this case. Though perhaps Thames' Instruction D-4, (CP-13), might be considered a lesser included offense instruction, the elements instructions, S-1, (CP-8), and (CP-9), and the form of the verdict instruction, D-5, (CP-14), gave no real guidance on the lesser included nature of possession.

Finally, was the right person before the trial court? Not the real drug seller, but merely the scape-goat? Merely the errand runner? Wheaton, to this point has yet to face trial, while Thames was quickly tried and severely sentenced.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

It is well established that matters regarding the weight and credibility accorded to evidence are to be resolved by the jury. *McIntosh v. State*, 917 So.2d 78 (Miss. 2005). Further, when considering a questioned jury verdict, the appellate court will not reverse a jury verdict unless failure to do so would sanction an unconscionable injustice. *Swan v. State*, 806 So.2d 1111 (Miss. 2002). Finally, when the legal sufficiency of the evidence is

challenged on appeal, the appellate court's review authority is limited. *Manning v. State*, 765 So.2d 516 (Miss. 1999), other citations omitted.

LEGAL PRINCIPLES

In this highly orchestrated scene at 921 Church Street, Newton, Mississippi on or about February 15, 2006, irrespective of their comments, what the MBN Agents witnessed was two junkies having a cigarette together, the alleged crack belonged to someone else. (T-57) *Brashier v. State*, 269 So.2d 336 (Miss. 1972). Proof of possession of a controlled substance cannot be based solely upon surmise or suspicion, there must be an evidentiary basis of the defendant's intent. *Stringfield v. State*, 588 So.2d 438 (Miss. 1992).

One glaring deficiency is the fact that Thames' trial attorney did not present the defense that Thames was merely the "go-between", "errand runner", or "conduit" in this transaction. *Minor v. State*, 482 So.2d 1107 (Miss. 1986). Even when the State's evidence is given all reasonable inferences that may be reasonably drawn consistent with the verdict, if the facts and inferences so considered in favor of the accused are of such sufficient force that reasonable men could find reasonable doubt of guilt, the verdict must be reversed. *Taylor v. State*, 656 So.2d 104 (Miss. 1995).

Thames submits here that what occurred in this trial is that he was made out to be a "bad" person by the State; that even in spite of his lack of culpability, the prejudicial aspects of his life as a drug user and the people he associated and partied with were of such character, that to this prejudiced jury, he must be guilty. *Sumrall v. State*, 257 So.2d 853, appeal after remand, 272 So.2d 917 (Miss. 1973). What results then is a jury, poorly instructed as to all elements of a charged offense guided only by its own bias, prejudice and

passion. *Edwards v. State*, 755 So.2d 443 (Miss.App. 1999). This injustice calls for reversal of the guilty verdict rendered.

Ш

Whether trial counsel's performance represents ineffective assistance of counsel.

Thames recognizes that this issue is also highly subjective and requires more than just allegations of same. Elements of conflict of interest in his representation have been discussed above. Certain other errors, such as lack of credible testimony and evidence have also been discussed. This was not an aggressive, full bore defense. Defendant submits that this defense was not effective representation of counsel.

Thames trial Counsel conducted a very weak and ineffective voir dire examination of the jury venire.

Thames trial counsel allowed the state to overtly lead its witness, Coleman, throughout his testimony, over and over, without objection; allowed the state to extract hearsay from Coleman on several points also without objection; and allowed the state to extract speculation testimony from Coleman, without objection.

Thames trial counsel likewise let the state lead its witness, Keel, time and time again, without objection; let the state have Keel identify and authenticate a DVD of the alleged drug transaction without laying the proper predicate (T-59); let that video into evidence without objection (T-61); made no voir dire inquiry into the authenticity nor necessary predicate into evidence, of that video (T-62); and allowed Keel to provide very damaging hearsay testimony of threats against her, by persons other than your Defendant Thames, without any objection Defense counsel never even asked Keel about her own criminal history; he never asked Keel

about any compensation she received from the state for her cooperation; and most importantly, he never asked Keel to tell the jury what sort of deal she had made with the state, apparently for forgiveness of her own drug crimes, in exchange for her cooperation as a confidential informant against Thames.

Defense Counsel allowed state's witness Peterson, to be led on numerous material points without objection (T-76). Again he declined to make any voir dire examination of the state's proffered expert witness, Grady Downey (T-79). Trial defense counsel did not make a motion for a directed verdict at the close of the state's case in chief, but rather only moved to dismiss.

On another point, defense counsel's effectiveness is called into issue. Though defense counsel sought, and received, a jury instruction on the lesser included offense of simple "possession" of the controlled substance, still he did not insure that the jury was properly instructed as to the form of the verdict given the alternatives with which the jury was confronted. He did not object to the state's "form of the verdict" instruction which simply told the jury that if they chose to convict Thames, the form of the verdict would be that they find Thames "guilty as charged", defense counsel did not require a clarification on that verdict form as to whether they were finding Thames guilty of the "sale" or merely of the "possession". Defense counsel did not offer any instruction with the proper form of the verdict. Defense counsel did not object when the jury returned a verdict of simple"... guilty as charged" without clarification as to whether the conviction was of the "sale" or of the "possession". Defense counsel did not object when the Defendant was sentenced on the court's obvious assumption that the conviction was for a "sale", and not the lesser offense

of "possession".

This became particularly acute at the sentencing phase of his trial. Though trial counsel made a sincere plea for mercy, (T-117-18), the real credible witnesses were not allowed. On their own initiative, the Thames family was prepared to present four witnesses in favor of mitigation for Thames. (RE-50) This was refused. And, Wheaton was still off limits. (RE-51).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In order to succeed on any ineffective assistance of counsel claim, a defendant must satisfy the two-part test as set out in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984), as adopted by our Supreme Court in *Stringer v. State*, 454 So.2d 468, 477 (Miss. 1984). The test is very simple: (1) was counsel's performance deficient; and, (2) did the deficiency prejudice the Defendant. As will be discussed in the argument below, Thames will submit that though at times his counsel's performance was competent, still at multiple critical points in his trial preparation and at trial, counsel's deficiencies were indeed fundamentally prejudicial to Thames.

LEGAL PRINCIPLES

It is important to remember that at the time of trial, Thames was 44 years old, husband in a long time marriage, with three outstanding children, and, with the exception of misdemeanor drug and alcohol violations, had no other charges, and led an unremarkable but stable and productive life as a mechanic, husband and father. (T-91,92)

But Thames did have a substance abuse problem, and his employer, Wheaton, was apparently a significant source of illicit drugs in Newton County, as a side line to his garage

business. It was inevitable that doing a favor for Wheaton and one of his party pals, or complying with the directive of his employer - would crater Thames. This is what happened on February 15, 2006, and Thames arrest in late July, 2006.

This prompted a drastic change in Thames. After bonding out, and rehabilitation, Thames no longer worked for Wheaton, but the City of Newton and its police department as a mechanic. (T-95) Small steps at first, but in the time elapsed since the arrest, he "came back up." (T-95) If ever there was a candidate for mitigation, it was Thames.

But this did not happen. Though four disinterested individuals were ready to testify at sentencing, (RE-50), counsel said no. Refusal to even interview credible, beneficial witnesses constitutes ineffective assistance. *Johns v. State*, 926 So.2d 188 (Miss. 2006). Anything less than a full and complete investigation of all available potential witnesses, even co-defendants, represents a denial of effective assistance. *Triplett v. State*, 666 So.2d 1356 (Miss. 1995).

The entire record in this case, particularly considering the gravity of exposure faced by Thames, demonstrates critical short cuts on the part of trial counsel. In apparently taking a trial strategy of beating up Keel, the informant, other exculpatory or mitigating witnesses were overlooked, including Wheaton. *Payton v. State*, 708 So.2d 559 (Miss. 1998). This, together with the other deficiencies herein discussed, collectively are akin to going into a boxing match with one hand tied behind your back. The outcome would be severe, just as the outcome in Thames' case resulted in a grossly disproportionate sentence.

Thames still faces 15 years, Wheaton is still in business.

Whether the cumulative errors in the investigation of this case, and at trial, resulted in a basically unfair trial of the Defendant in this case.

This is a judgment call, and one of perception. As a rule, if it appears to a reasonable person that the accused at trial did not have benefit of an effective defense effort at trial and the conduct of the trial was such to demonstrate this, the question of fairness is raised.

In Thames' case, this was definitely started by Wheaton and his recommendation of trial counsel. Thames, being unfamiliar with the workings and consequences of the criminal justice system, apparently though it was a good idea, particularly when he got some "help" with the fee, unbeknownst to Thames, that "help" put limits on its generosity. These limits doomed his defense.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A Defendant cannot expect a perfect trial, but he is guaranteed a fair and impartial trial. This guarantee has long been established. The trial requires fair, impartial and unbiased jurors who are willing to be guided by the testimony and other evidence as presented at trial, together with the law announced by the court. It also requires that the Defendant be tried in an atmosphere that is free from bias, hatred or prejudice against the Defendant and his theory of defense, if reasonable. *Seals v. State*, 44 So.2d 61 (Miss. 1950); *U.S.C., Const. Amend. 6;* Const. 1890; Sec. 26. Further, the plain error doctrine requires that there be an error, or errors, and that these resulted in manifest miscarriage of justice. *Garlotte v. State*, 915 So.2d 450 (Miss.App. 2005).

LEGAL PRINCIPLES

Thames' case presents a classic example of how <u>not</u> to prosecute or defend a criminal case. *Kelly v. State*, 735 So.2e 1071 (Miss.App. 1999). There were just too many defense errors and too many key players absent. To be sure, it is hard to rebut a DVD, State's Ex. 1 (T-60). But what does it show? Two "crippled" people having a smoke. There was cocaine and money but both came from someone else and belonged to someone else. (T-57). It makes for a nice TV show, but as proof beyond a reasonable doubt, this fails.

Though seemingly adequate, when examined as a whole, the jury instructions in this case did not give the full law to the jury, particularly as to each element of the alleged crime of sale. *Reddix v. State*, 731 So.2d 591 (Miss. 1999). When this occurs, with the approval of the court, in addition to limiting the guidance to the jury, it also lowers the burden of proof on the part of the State. This is grounds for reversal. *United States v. Young*, 464 F.2d 160 (5th Cir. Miss. 1972). It is also unfair.

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