COPY

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

VIRTY LEE THAMES

VS.



APPELLANT

NO. 2007-KA-1573-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JEFFREY A. KLINGFUSS

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

RACHEL BLAIR

ATTORNEY GENERAL LEGAL INTERN

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The defendant's attorney did not have a conflict of interest. Since the defendant's attorney had not yet represented the other party, any conflict was hypothetical or potential. The defendant must prove an actual conflict of interest. Since no actual conflict existed, the defendant's attorney did not have a conflict of interest.

The weight of the evidence sufficiently supported the verdict. The jury viewed a video that showed the crime occur. Witnesses testified the sale took place as the video showed. The defendant even testified that he received money in exchange for drugs. Plenty of evidence supported the jury's verdict.

The defendant's attorney effectively assisted the defendant. The defendant cannot prove both his attorney performed deficiently and the deficiency prejudiced the defendant. Therefore, the defendant's attorney effectively assisted the defendant.

No cumulative errors existed. To have cumulative errors, errors must exist.

No errors existed. Therefore, no cumulative errors existed.

ARGUMENT

Issue I.

THE DEFENDANT'S ATTORNEY DID NOT HAVE A CONFLICT OF INTEREST BECAUSE ANY CONFLICT WOULD BE HYPOTHETICAL OR POTENTIAL.

When reviewing an attorney's performance, the Court must review using a two-part standard: the attorney's performance was deficient, and the deficient prejudiced the defendant. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). A strong, but rebuttable presumption exists that an attorney's behavior is within the "ambit of reasonable professional standards." *Hulburt v. State*, 803 So.2d 1277, 1279 (Miss. 2002) (quoting *McQuarter v. State*, 574 So.2d 685, 687 (Miss. 1990)).

When representing two parties, the "dual representation does not create a per se conflict of interest." Hulburt, 803 So.2d at 1279; Littlejohn v. State, 593 So.2d 20, 26 (Miss. 1992); Jones v. State, 883 So.2d 578, 581 (Miss. 2003). An actual conflict of interest must exist. Hulburt, 803 So.2d at 1279; Jones, 883 So.2d at 582. The Court cannot reverse for a hypothetical or potential conflict of interest. Hulburt, 803 So.2d at 1279; Jones, 883 So.2d at 582. Once the defendant establishes actual conflict of interest, prejudice is assumed. Littlejohn, 593 So.2d at 25.

In *Hulburt*, the trial court directed the co-defendant's attorney to represent both parties. *Hulburt*, 803 So.2d at 1280. The Court held the defendant failed to show an

actual conflict of interest. *Id.* at 1281. In *Littlejohn*, the defendant's attorney also represented another party involved in the case. *Littlejohn*, 593 So.2d at 21. This party testified against the defendant as part of his plea bargain. *Id.* at 22. The Court held actual conflict and prejudice. *Id.* at 24. In *Jones*, the attorney represented the defendant for all proceedings. *Jones*, 883 So.2d at 580. His attorney also represented his co-defendant for a preliminary hearing. *Id.* The Court stated the following:

There is no question that such a situation, where counsel advises one of his clients to testify against another of his clients, would present counsel with a conflict of interest. That is not the situation here.

Id. The Court held no actual conflict of interest. Id. at 581.

Following precedent, no conflict of interest existed. The defendant alleged that a conflict of interest existed because Otha Wheaton hired his attorney to represent the defendant. RE 50. Otha Wheaton has yet to face trial.

Since no trial proceedings occurred against Otha Wheaton, any conflict of interest would be hypothetical or potential. When a trial proceeds against Mr. Wheaton, the conflict of interest would exist against Mr. Wheaton and not the defendant. The defendant must prove an actual conflict of interest for the case to be reversed. The defendant does not meet this burden.

The defendant did not prove an actual conflict of interest. Since the defendant did not prove this, the Court should affirm on the dual representation issue.

Issue II.

THE WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE SUFFICIENTLY SUPPORTED THE VERDICT.

The weight of evidence sufficiently supported the jury verdict. Therefore, it would be conscionable to affirm the verdict. Since it would be conscionable to uphold the verdict, the Court should not overturn the verdict.

The Court's standard of review for sufficiency of evidence is as follows:

If a review of the evidence reveals that it is of such quality and weight that, "having in mind the beyond a reasonable doubt burden of proof standard, reasonable fair-minded men in the exercise of impartial judgment might reach different conclusion on every element of the offense," the evidence will be deemed sufficient.

Bush v. State, 895 So.2d 836, 843 (Miss. 2005) (citing Edwards v. State, 469 So.2d 68, 70 (Miss. 1985)).

When reviewing sufficiency of evidence, the Court considers evidence presented by both sides. *Brown v. State*, 890 So.2d 901, 917 (Miss. 2004); *Boyd v. State*, 977 So.2d 329, 336 (Miss. 2008). The Court regards the evidence in the light most favorable to the verdict. *Brown*, 890 So.2d at 917; *Boyd*, 977 So.2d at 336. The Court accepts all credible evidence as true. *Boyd*, 977 So.2d at 336. The jury holds the responsibility of assessing the credibility of witnesses. *Strahan v. State*, 955 So.2d 968, 974 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007).

[T]he jury may accept the testimony of some witnesses and reject that of others, and may accept in part or reject in part the testimony of any witness, or may believe part of the evidence on behalf of the state and part of that for the accused.

Id. at 973 (quoting Evans v. State, 725 So.2d 613, 680 (Miss. 1997)). Since the jury determines the credibility of witnesses, the Court only overturns the jury's verdict "when it is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of evidence that allowing it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice." Boyd, 977 So.2d at 336.

In *Bush*, the State presented the jury testimony from a victim and a co-conspirator. *Bush*, 895 So.2d at 843. The Court considered the evidence in the most favorable light to the State and accepted all testimonies as true. Sufficient evidence supported the verdict. *Id.* Like *Bush*, the *Brown* court upheld the verdict. *Brown*, 890 So.2d at 917. The State presented three witnesses, and the Court held sufficient evidence existed. *Id.* The defendant in *Boyd* argued the State failed to establish he possessed the same caliber gun as the murder weapon. *Boyd*, 977 So.2d at 337. The Court held sufficient evidence existed for a jury to conclude the defendant caused the death even absent a murder weapon. *Id.* The defendant in *Strahan* argued insufficient evidence since there was no evidence connecting him to the scene and the witnesses were unreliable. *Strahan*, 955 So.2d at 972-73. The jury accepted the testimony. *Id.* at 973. The Court upheld the verdict. *Id.*

Keeping with precedent, sufficient evidence existed. The jury received sufficient information to convict the defendant as charged. The trial court instructed the jury to convict the defendant if he knowingly and intentionally sold cocaine and knew the product was cocaine. CP 14.

A video recorded the defendant giving the confidential informant the drugs and receiving money. T. 62; EX 1. The confidential informant testified the drug deal occurred. T. 57. The defendant testified he handed the informant the cocaine and received money. T. 99. This evidence is sufficient for a jury to believe the evidence satisfied the elements of the crime. Reasonable people could believe beyond a reasonable doubt the defendant committed this crime.

The overwhelming weight of the evidence favors the jury's verdict. Therefore, it would be conscionable for the Court to affirm the jury's verdict.

Reasonable people could have found beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant sold cocaine. The weight of the evidence favors the jury's verdict. Since the weight of evidence favors the jury's verdict, the Court should affirm without fear of sanctioning an unconscionable injustice.

Issue III.

MR. BARNETT EFFECTIVELY PERFORMED HIS DUTIES AS COUNSEL TO THE DEFENDANT BECAUSE ANY CHANGES IN PERFORMANCE WOULD NOT HAVE LED TO A DIFFERENT OUTCOME.

Mr. Barnett effectively performed his duties as counsel for the defendant. The defendant cannot prove any change to Mr. Barnett's performance would have led to a different outcome. Therefore, the Court should affirm on this issue.

As decided by the United States Supreme Court, the standard of review for ineffective counsel is set out as a two-part test. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). The defendant must prove the following: (1) the counsel performed deficiently and (2) the deficiency prejudiced the defendant. *Id*.

A rebuttable presumption exists that an attorney's behavior lies within the "ambit of reasonable professional standards." *Hulburt v. State*, 803 So.2d 1277, 1279 (Miss. 2002) (quoting *McQuarter v. State*, 574 So.2d 685, 687 (Miss. 1990)). To rebut the presumption, the defendant must prove the proceedings would have ended differently. *Wynn v. State*, 964 So.2d 1196, 1200 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007); *Jones v. State*, 911 So.2d 556, 560 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005). Many of the things an attorney does or does not do during a trial are considered part of his trial strategy. *Anderson v. State*, 904 So.2d 973, 980 (Miss. 2004). Trial strategies can include whether an

attorney asks certain questions, makes certain motions and objections, and examines the jury venire a certain way. *Id.*; *Harrell v. State*, 974 So.2d 309, 325 (Miss. 2007).

An abundance of authority exists on this issue. Very, very few decisions favor the defendant. The following are a few examples of decisions on the issue.

In *Harrell*, the Court mentioned voir dire is part of the defendant's strategy. *Harrell*, 947 So.2d at 315 (quoting *Burns v. State*, 813 So.2d 668, 675-76 (Miss. 2001)). The attorney questioned no potential jury member during voir dire. *Id.* The attorney participated in exercising peremptory challenges and striking jury. The Court held no obvious unfairness existed. *Id.*

In Walker, the Court stated "leading questions... will rarely create so distorted an evidentiary presentation as to deny the defendant a fair trial." Walker v. State, 880 So.2d 1047, 1077 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004). The Court then held although the attorney improperly failed to object to the prosecution's leading questions, the leading questions caused no prejudice. Id.

In *Anderson*, the Court held although the attorney improperly failed to object to hearsay, the hearsay added nothing prejudicial. *Anderson*, 904 So.2d at 980-81.

In *Jordan*, the defendant alleged failure to ask questions about an alleged feud during cross examination led to prejudice. *Jordan v. State*, 918 So.2d 636, 640 (Miss.

2005). The Court found the cross examination to be neither ineffective nor prejudicial. *Id.*

In Sanders, the attorney failed to voir dire the prosecution's expert witness. Sanders v. State, 825 So.2d 53, 58 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002). The defendant made no assertion that the expert only qualified because the attorney failed to voir dire. *Id.* Court found the defendant needed to prove the expert would not have qualified to be prejudicial. *Id.*

In *Fulks*, the defense attorney made no motion for a directed verdict. *Fulks v. State*, 944 So.2d 79, 83 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). The Court held the attorney's performance was effective because he made a motion for JNOV or in the alternative a new trial after proceedings concluded. *Id*.

In *Caldwell*, the defendant's family desired to testify during his sentencing. *Caldwell v. State*, 953 So.2d 266, 271 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). The attorney called no witnesses. *Id.* The Court did not find him ineffective. *Id.*

Following precedent, Mr. Barnett effectively assisted the defendant. The defendant alleged Mr. Barnett ineffectively performed the following: questioning the jury during voir dire, allowing the State to ask leading questions and extract hearsay, asking questions about evidence and experts, cross-examining, making motions, instructing the jury, and pleading for mercy during sentencing.

The defendant alleges Mr. Barnett weakly conducted the voir dire examination. Mr. Barnett effectively examined the jury venire. During the voir dire, Mr. Barnett asked numerous questions. T. 16-21. Mr. Barnett excused a number of potential jury members. T. 24-25. Mr. Barnett even made a Batson challenge when the State excused mainly black citizens. T. 26. Mr. Barnett effectively examined the jury venire and advocated against a prejudice.

The defendant alleges Mr. Barnett improperly failed to object to leading questions and hearsay. Even if the State asked leading questions or for hearsay, it did not result in prejudice. The video tape confirmed what all the witnesses said. EX 1. Objections would have led to the same jury verdict.

The defendant alleges Mr. Barnett improperly failed to object to the video (T. 60; EX 1) and expert testimony (T.79). The defendant asserted no claim that the judge would have refused the video or expert if Mr. Barnett made these objections. Therefore, he does not prove that a different outcome would have resulted.

The defendant alleges Mr. Barnett ineffectively performed when he asked Ms. Keel no questions about her deal with the state. Mr. Barnett asked Ms. Keel about recanting her story and her mental history. T. 65-66. Mr. Barnett gave the jury plenty of reasons not to believe Ms. Keel. If the jury decided Ms. Keel was a reliable

witness after this cross examination, questions about her deal would have made no difference in the trial's outcome.

The defendant alleges Mr. Barnett performed ineffectively by failing to request a directed verdict. Like in *Fulks*, Mr. Barnett made a motion for judgement notwithstanding the verdict or in the alternative for new trial. CP 18. Therefore, Mr. Barnett adequately defended his client.

The defendant alleges Mr. Barnett ineffectively instructed the jury. D-8 allowed the jury to find the defendant: guilty as charged, not guilty as charged, or guilty of possession. CP 9. D-4 instructed the jury could find the defendant guilty of possession. CP 13. The jury instructions clearly informed the jury that they could convict the defendant of the lesser-included crime of possession. An additional instruction on the lesser-included offense would have been repetitive.

The defendant alleged Mr. Barnett ineffectively pleaded for mitigating factors during the sentencing phase. During the sentencing phase, Mr. Barnett expressed,

[The defendant] has been through rehabilitation, turned his life over to the lord, . . . been a regular attender at church, he's helped support his family, he's worked for the Newton Police Department as a mechanic trying to earn money to help his family . . . He's a first offender, forty-four years old, never been convicted of a felony before, never been charged with a felony . . . [W]e would pray for mercy.

T. 118. Mr. Barnett may not have called any witness to testify, but he made an honest attempt for mercy. Therefore, he performed neither ineffectively nor prejudicially.

Mr. Barnett effectively performed his duties. If any of the events happened differently, the trial still would have concluded as it did. Therefore, the Court should affirm on this issue.

Issue IV.

NO CUMULATIVE ERRORS EXIST BECAUSE NO ERRORS EXIST.

No harmless errors were made during the course of the trial. Since there were no harmless errors, a cumulation of errors cannot exist. Therefore, the Court should affirm on this issue.

The standard of review for cumulative errors is as follows:

[U]pon appellate review of cases in which we find harmless error or any error which is not specifically found to be reversible in and of itself, we still have the discretion to determine, on a case by case basis, as to whether such error or errors, although not reversible when standing alone, may when considered cumulatively require reversal because of the resulting cumulative effect.

Strahan v. State, 955 So.2d 968, 975 (Miss.App.,2007) (quoting Byrom v. State, 863 So.2d 836, 847 (Miss. 2003)).

In *Strahan*, the Court found the issue without merit. *Id.* In *Byrom*, the Court found not cumulative error deserving reversal. *Byrom*, 863 So.2d at 847.

No error exists. Mr. Barnett properly defended the defendant without conflict of interest or ineffective performance. The weight of the evidence sufficiently supports the verdict. No error exists. Without an error, there can be no cumulation of errors. Therefore, the defendant received a fair and impartial trial. The Court should find this issue without merit.

CONCLUSION

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